THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jun 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

R. MARKLEY DENNIS, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2019-002082

JOHN BYERLY, individually, and as Personal representative of the ESTATE OF SUSAN
B. BYERLY,

Appellant,

v.

THOMAS WESLEY,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

William E. Hopkins, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66474)
bill@hopkinsfirm.com
J. Clay Hopkins (SC Bar No. 102053)
clay@hopkinsfirm.com
HOPKINS LAW FIRM, L.L.C.
Post Office Box 1885
Pawleys Island, South Carolina 29585
(843) 314-4202 – Telephone
(843) 314-9365 – Facsimile

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in allowing John Byerly to be cross-examined about his deceased wife's medical records which were not admitted into evidence?
- II. Did the trial court err in refusing to charge the jury the law relating to a landlord's nondelegable liability?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Susan B. Byerly filed this premises liability action on May 8, 2017 asserting negligence against Thomas Wesley (hereinafter "Wesley"), Brown Rooftops, LLC and Bay Service Contracting, LLC. (R. 3-8). Thereafter, the complaint was amended to assert a claim for loss of consortium on behalf of John Byerly. (R. 14-20). On May 26, 2018, while the case was pending, Susan B. Byerly passed away. John Byerly was appointed as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Susan B. Byerly and proceeded with claims for himself, individually, and on behalf of the Estate.

John Byerly reached a settlement with Brown Rooftops, LLC before trial and dismissed it from the case. At the call of the case for trial, John Byerly voluntarily dismissed all claims against Bay Service Contracting, LLC, which was in default. The case proceeded to trial only against the landlord and property owner Wesley.

This action was tried November 20-21, 2019, before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. The jury returned a verdict in favor of Wesley. (R. 1-2).

Appellant timely served his Notice of Appeal on December 30, 2019.

FACTS

John and Susan Byerly, their daughter Amber, and Amber's three (3) boys rented one half of a duplex home from Wesley in Myrtle Beach. (R. 44). Mr. and Mrs. Byerly both

worked at Coastal Carolina University and rode to work together each day. (R. 42-43). In October of 2016, Hurricane Matthew struck the area and the Governor issued a mandatory evacuation. (Id.). The Byerlys complied with the evacuation order and went to Rock Hill to stay with friends for several days. (R. 45). The hurricane caused a large tree to fall on the roof of the house, although most of the damage was on the other side of the duplex. (R. 109, 117).

After buying the property, Wesley placed railroad ties in the front yard of the property, near the street, to prevent people from driving onto the property or parking in the yard. (R. 106, 110). After the hurricane, Wesley contracted with Richie Brown, owner of Brown Rooftops, LLC, to perform all repairs to the property. (R. 118-19). At some unknown point during the repairs, Brown moved the railroad ties from their location in the front yard at the street to directly beside the driveway where the Byerly vehicle was parked each day (R. 106). Brown also sub-contracted with Bay Service Contracting, LLC to bring in a crane to remove the tree from the roof. (R. 119).

Wesley was present during most of the repairs. (R. 110). Wesley admitted at trial he knew the railroad ties were placed in the approximate area of where the Byerly vehicle would be, by the driveway, and further admitted he knew the railroad ties were "pretty close in the driveway and she [Susan Byerly] would have had to dodge them to get in on that side of the car, . . . ,". (R. 111, 113-14).

The Byerlys returned to the property on October 11, 2016. (R. 47). There was still no electricity or power at the home when the Byerlys returned. (R. 49, 112). Wesley was at the property at that time. (Id.). The Byerlys did not see or notice any railroad ties near the driveway when they returned to the property that day. (R. 48). On October 12, 2016,

John went to work at 6:00 a.m. but Susan stayed home. (R. 49). Although it was dark when he left for work in the morning, John testified he did not see or notice any railroad ties near the driveway when he returned home from work on the October 12. (*Id.*) It is undisputed there was no power that day or the next day, October 13, 2016. (*Id.*)

On October 13th, John and Susan Byerly left for work around 6:30 a.m., prior to sunrise, traveling the same route from the house to the car they used every day. (R. 50). John was walking to the driver's side of the car and Susan was walking to the passenger side. (R. 58, 171). As they approached their car, Susan fell and screamed, and John found her lying on the ground between railroad ties. (R. 51). Susan suffered a fractured ankle and a torn labrum in her hip, although the torn labrum wasn't discovered until nearly two (2) months later after Susan continued complaining of pain and an MRI was performed. (R. 64-69). Because of her injuries, Susan was physically unable to perform her job duties as a custodian and was forced to resign her employment with CCU on April 17, 2017. (Tr. 73). Although she attempted to return to work for a short period, Susan was unable to perform the physical demands of the job and had to resign. Susan Byerly died of unrelated, natural causes on May 26, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling of the trial court either lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law." *Id.*; see also *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury

instructions unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion." *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence." *Id.* "A trial court must charge the current and correct law." *Wells v. Halyard*, 341 S.C. 234, 237, 533 S.E.2d 341, 343 (Ct. App. 2000). In reviewing a jury charge for alleged error, an appellate court must consider the charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING JOHN BYERLY TO BE CROSS-EXAMINED ABOUT HIS DECEASED WIFE'S MEDICAL RECORDS WHICH HE DID NOT AUTHOR AND WERE NOT ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

In his case in chief, John Byerly testified about the medical bills incurred because of Susan's injuries sustained in her fall over the crossties. (R. 64-69). In particular, John testified about the Grand Strand Regional Medical Center emergency room bill. (R. 64). The ER medical bill was introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 without objection. (R. 185-209). Byerly did not introduce any medical records from Grand Strand. Wesley did not introduce any medical records from Grand Strand.

During cross-examination of Byerly by Wesley's counsel, the following colloquy occurred:

- Q. Isn't it true that the medical bill that your attorney moved in and is asking the jury to have Tom pay reflects treatment which took place on October 13 between the hours of a 12:50 check-in time, and a 2:30 p.m. discharge time?
- A. I can't explain the time. All I can tell you is I took her directly out there. I don't know if the time didn't start until after she was in the back room or whatever, but I took her out there directly after the accident.

Q. Right, but what I'm representing to you is that the medical records that you are asking for that treatment to be paid for by Tom –

Appellant's Counsel: Your Honor, I need to object. I don't believe she can impeach him on a document he didn't author.

The Court: You put it into evidence, it's subject to cross-examination. I overrule your objection.

(R. 76-77).

In fact, the medical records, which purportedly contained times, had NOT been put into evidence – by anyone. The medical bill makes no reference to any specific times whatsoever. No document was introduced, or shown to the jury, with any times of treatment, check-in, or discharge. The Court was simply wrong that Byerly had put such information into evidence and the ruling therefore lacked evidentiary support.

After the Court's incorrect statement and ruling, Wesley's counsel continued:

Q. And you took Ms. Byerly directly, you say, at 6:00, 6:30 to 809 82nd Parkway, which is the emergency room, right?

A. Right.

Q. And it is my understanding that is about 1.8 miles away from your house?

A. About that.

Q. And with traffic, maybe four or five minutes at the most?

A. Maybe, yes.

Q. And those medical records that you would like Tom to pay, that reflects treatment at a different time when you say you were there, do you dispute anything else in those medical records or in the bill you are submitting to the jury?

A. Please repeat that.

Q. Sure. The medical bill that you have submitted to the jury, and that you are here on behalf of your wife and asking Tom to pay, it reflects treatment during a different time than when you say you were there; are you disputing anything else in that medical record or that medical bill?

A. No, ma'am. But I can't explain why they had the 12:00 to 2:00, but I know when I took her out there. That is all I can say.

Q. All right. And when Ms. Byerly fell and tripped over the railroad tie, if you took her directly to the emergency room and checked in at 12:50, it would have been light outside at the time of her trip and fall, correct?

A. No, ma'am, it wouldn't be. The sun rose at 7:15, 7:20, and I was already on my way to the hospital by then. It was dark when she tripped.

(R. 77-78).

The Court allowed Wesley's counsel to place John Byerly with the impossible task of trying to refute a medical record which was not shown to him, was not in evidence, and which he did not author. Wesley's counsel was allowed to argue to the jury, in effect, the accident occurred in daylight hours with absolutely no evidence in the record to support such a claim.

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence generally maintain that the contents of a document can only be published to the jury after the document has been admitted into evidence. S.C.R.E. 802, 901. The rules governing authenticity, relevancy, and hearsay prevent the publication of documents without satisfying each evidentiary requirement. Reading or relaying the content of a document not in evidence to a witness while the jury is present is essentially "publishing" it to the jury in violation of evidentiary rules.

Medical records not in evidence typically contain multiple levels of hearsay. The content or admission of a document consisting of multiple layers of hearsay, such as a

medical record, is inadmissible to prove its truth unless each layer, analyzed independently, falls within a hearsay exception. Wesley did not call any witness(es) necessary to lay the proper foundation for the admissibility of any medical record, so he should not have been allowed to use it to cross-examine John Byerly. Wesley's counsel does not, and should not, get a foundational "free pass" to regurgitate the purported contents of medical records to the jury on cross-examination.

Moreover, Wesley's counsel improperly pitted John Byerly against the author of the purported medical record. In effect, Wesley was allowed to pit John Byerly against his wife's medical professionals. South Carolina courts have long held that pitting witnesses against one another is improper cross-examination. "It is improper to cross-examine in a way that requires a witness to attack another witness's credibility." *State v. Benning*, 338 S.C. 59, 63, 524 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App. 1999); see also *Burgess v. State*, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998).

The line of questioning allowed by the trial court was not proper impeachment either. South Carolina Rule of Evidence 613 provides that a witness may only be impeached by his or her own prior inconsistent statement. Thus, unless John Byerly was the author of the purported medical record, which was never actually seen or admitted, hearsay statements and content within the medical records could not have been a prior inconsistent statement made by him and the medical record should not have been used for impeachment. Such practice essentially requires one witness to be pitted against another to comment on the veracity of another witness's statement. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Lisa C.*, 380 S.C. 406, 418, 669 S.E.2d 647, 653 (Ct. App. 2008).

Neither Rule of Evidence 803(3) nor 803(4) is applicable to the time of medical treatment and neither rule, even if applicable, would permit counsel to publish a medical record without laying a proper foundation and then pitting the author of the record against a non-author witness, especially with no opportunity to cross-examine the author.

The trial court erred in allowing Wesley's counsel to cross-examine John Byerly about his wife's medical record, and essentially publish the record to the jury, without admitting the record into evidence, laying a proper foundation, determining if the hearsay contained in the record was subject to any exception, and pitting John Byerly against the unknown author of the record.

Not only did the trial court's improper ruling lack evidentiary support, it was also controlled by an error of law. John Byerly submits the case should be remanded for a new trial based upon the trial court's erroneous ruling on the cross-examination of Byerly with Susan's medical record which was not in evidence and which he did not author.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' REQUEST TO CHARGE.

Prior to jury selection, counsel for the parties and the trial court engaged in discussion regarding the allocation of fault, should the jury find in favor of Byerly. (R. 27-35). In fact, Wesley's counsel stated she "object[ed] to anything going to the jury as to an instruction on vicarious liability for anything that the contractors did being imputed on [Wesley]." (R. 35). At that time, undersigned counsel for Byerly notified the Court of a proposed jury charge concerning that very issue. (*Id.*).

Prior to charging the jury, John Byerly submitted his proposed jury charge concerning a landlord's nondelegable liability, which charge specifically addresses duty and liability to tenants when repairs are being made to property. (R. 127). The trial court

refused to charge the jury as requested over Byerly's objections. (R. 129-35, 160).

The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on Byerly's requested charge concerning a landlord's nondelegable liability for the dangerous condition of property when repairs are being made. The charge was timely submitted to the trial court, and the charge would have assisted the jury in making an informed decision based on South Carolina law; thus, the charges rendered were inadequate and this Court should reverse the trial court's ruling and remand this matter for a new trial.

Under South Carolina law, a property owner "owes no duty to use reasonable care to take precautions against or to warn guests of open and obvious dangers. In such situations, the guests themselves have a duty to discover and avoid the danger." *Hackworth v. United States*, 366 F. Supp. 2d 326, 330 (D.S.C. 2005) (citing *Neil v. Byrum*, 288 S.C. 472, 343 S.E.2d 615, 616 (1986)). However, in *Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp.*, 305 S.C. 123, 406 S.E.2d 361 (1991), the South Carolina Supreme Court first recognized an exception to the open and obvious danger rule and adopted Section 343(A) of the Restatement (Second) of Torts.

In *Callander*, an invitee brought a negligence action against a Krispy Kreme Doughnut Shop after he slipped and fell when he backed up to sit on a stool, from which the round top was missing. *Id.* at 362. The owner-manager of the Krispy Kreme admitted that the stool top had been missing for over two months and conceded that "many of his regular customers were senior citizens who customarily backed up to the stools in order to sit down." *Id.* at 363. The court noted that: "The traditional 'no duty to warn of the obvious' rule has been modified in many jurisdictions to hold that an owner is liable for injuries to an invitee, despite an open and obvious defect, if the owner should anticipate

that the invitee will nevertheless encounter the condition, or that the invitee is likely to be distracted.” *Id.* at 362. Following this trend, the court expressly adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts section 343(A) (1965), which provides that “[a] possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.” *Id.* at 362 (emphasis added). Quoting comment (f) of Section 343(A), the court further explained that “an owner may be required to warn the invitee, or take other reasonable steps to protect him, if the ‘possessor has reason to expect that the invitee’s attention may be distracted, so that he will not discover what is obvious, . . . or fail to protect himself against it.” *Id.* at 362–63 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343(A) cmt. (f)). The court subsequently remanded the case for further proceedings in accordance with its adoption of section 343(A) and comment (f). *Id.*¹

Byerly submitted and requested the following charge on a landlord’s nondelegable liability:

South Carolina Courts have found that a landlord who undertakes repair of his property by use of a contractor has a non-delegable duty to see that the

¹ The exception recognized in *Callander* has since been applied by South Carolina courts and this court. *See, e.g., Hackworth v. United States*, 366 F. Supp. 2d 326, 330 (D.S.C. 2005) (“The degree of care owed with regard to an open and obvious danger is commensurate with the circumstances involved, including the possessor’s prior knowledge of the defect’s existence and the age and capacity of the invitee.”) (emphasis added); *Hancock v. Mid–South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) (“While a parking lot’s state of disrepair may be considered open and obvious, a jury could determine that Respondent should have anticipated that such a condition may cause an invitee to fall and injure themselves.”); *Creech v. S.C. Wildlife & Marine Res. Dep’t*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571, 575 (1997) (“[T]here was ample evidence that County had been warned the lack of safety rails could present a danger to people fishing from the dock and could expose County to potential liability. Accordingly, County was not entitled to a directed verdict based on the open and obvious nature of the dangerous condition.”).

repair is done properly and remains vicariously liable for injuries caused by improper repairs. *Gary v. Askew*, 417 S.C. 232, 789 S.E.2d 94 (Ct. App. 2016); *Simmons v. Tuomey Reg'l Med. Ctr. (Simmons 2)*, 341 S.C. 32, 42, 533 S.E.2d 312, 317 (2000).

A person may delegate a *duty* to an independent contractor, but if the independent contractor breaches that duty by acting negligently or improperly, the delegating person remains *liable* for that breach. It actually is the liability, not the duty, that is not delegable. The party which owes the non-delegable duty is vicariously liable for the negligent acts of the independent contractor. *Id.* (Emphasis in original).

The trial court denied Byerly's request to charge and gave as its reason for denying the request the fact that "there [was] no evidence of that." (R. 130). But, when undersigned counsel requested that Wesley's counsel be prevented from attempting to point the finger at a third-party during closing argument, the trial court stated, "He's (Wesley) not responsible for the work because it is an obvious condition. It has nothing to do with the work. It has to do with what the premises looked like." (R. 133-34). The trial court's decision – to refuse to charge the jury on nondelegable liability for landlords while allowing Wesley's attorney to point the fingers at a third-party for liability – was prejudicial and amounts to reversible error. The trial court essentially ruled as a matter of law the condition was open and obvious when that issue was clearly a question of fact for jury determination. Even Wesley admitted it would have been "pitch black" when Susan was walking to her car at 6:30 a.m., with no electricity or power to provide even background lighting, and encountered the railroad ties placed beside the vehicle and completely unaware of their presence. (R. 113).

"Ordinarily, a trial [court] has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and evidence." *Fernanders*, 499 S.E.2d at 510. However, jury instructions should be confined to the issues made by the pleadings and

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