THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 23 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-26-02880

Appellate Case No. 2019-002082

John Byerly, individually, and as PR of the Estate of Susan B. Byerly,Appellant,

v.

Thomas Wesley,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephanie P. Anthony, Esquire
SC Bar No. 101833
Weston Craig Anthony, LLC
P.O. Box 1992
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464-1992
(843) 881-4995
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE THE FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL BECAUSE APPELLANT NEGLECTED TO MAKE ANY CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION TO JOHN BYERLY'S CROSS-EXAMINATION ON THE BASIS ASSERTED; APPELLANT'S SOLE OBJECTION DURING JOHN BYERLY'S CROSS-EXAMINATION WAS NOT PROPER, NOR SUFFICIENT, AND THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS NOT AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO RULE UPON THE ISSUE.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (citing Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). South Carolina law requires a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is actually offered into evidence at the trial to preserve the issue for review. White v. Wilbanks, 298 S.C. 225, 379 S.E.2d 298 (Ct. App.1989), rev'd on other grounds, 301 S.C. 560, 393 S.E.2d 182 (1990).

Further, an objection must be sufficiently specific so as to “inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector and to show the opposite party the point of the objection, so that he may have an opportunity to obviate the error, if possible.” Broom v. Southeastern Highway Contracting Co., 291 S.C. 93, 352 S.E.2d 302 (Ct.App.1986) (citing 88 C.J.S. Trial § 124 at 248–

49 (1955). If an objection fails with regard to specificity, the trial judge committed no error in overruling the objection and in admitting the evidence. See Chapman v. Foremost Dairies, Inc., 249 S.C. 438, 154 S.E.2d 845 (1967).

During the entirety of Respondent counsel's cross-examination of John Byerly, counsel for Appellant made only one objection, which took place during the following exchange:

BY MS. ANTHONY:

Q Mr. Byerly, you testified that you drove Ms. Byerly straight to the hospital after her fall on October 13th in the morning around 6:00, 6:30 in the morning?

A Yes, sir -- yes, ma'am. Sorry.

Q [...] And you drove directly to Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, the emergency room, correct?

A Yes, ma'am.

Q But isn't it true that you didn't check Ms. Byerly into the emergency room until 12:50 p.m.?

A That is not true.

Q You did not show up to the emergency room at --

A I went there directly from the house at 6:30.

Q Isn't it true that the medical bill that your attorney moved in and is asking the jury to have Tom pay reflects treatment which took place on October 13 between the hours of a 12:50 check-in time, and a 2:30 p.m. discharge time?

A I can't explain the time. All I can tell you is I took her directly out there. I don't know if the time didn't start under after she was in the back room or whatever, but I took her out there directly after the accident.

Q Right. But what I'm representing to you is that the medical records that you are asking for that treatment to be paid for by Tom --

MR. HOPKINS: Your Honor, I need to object. I don't believe she can impeach him on a document he didn't author.

THE COURT: You put it into evidence, it's subject to cross-examination. I overrule your objection.

Q (MS. ANTHONY) I can't remember exactly where I was, but from your residence at the time, the Blynn Drive address, that is at 6211-A, Blynn Drive, correct?

A Correct.

Q And you took Ms. Byerly directly, you say, at 6:00, 6:30 to 809 82nd Parkway, which is the emergency room, right?

A Right.

Q And it is my understanding that is about 1.8 miles away from your house?

A About that.

Q And with traffic, maybe four or five minutes at the most?

A Maybe, yes.

Q And those medical bills that you would like Tom to pay, that reflects treatment at a different time when you say you were there, do you dispute anything else in those medical records or in the bill you are submitting to the jury?

A Please repeat that.

Q Sure. The medical bill that you have submitted to the jury, and that you are here on behalf of your wife and asking Tom to pay, it reflects treatment during a different time than when you say you were there; are you disputing anything else in that medical record or that medical bill?

A No, ma'am. But I can't explain why they had the 12:00 to 2:00, but I know when I took her out there. That is all I can say.

Q All right. And when Ms. Byerly fell and tripped over the railroad tie, if you took her directly to the emergency room and checked in at 12:50, it would have been light outside at the time of her trip and fall, correct?

A No, ma'am, it wouldn't be. The sun rose at 7:15, 7:20, and I was already on my way to the hospital by then. It was dark when she tripped.

(R. p. 75, line 17-p. 78, line 14)(*emphasis added*)

As an initial point, despite Appellant's assertion that John Byerly was being improperly cross-examined about his wife's medical records, the record reflects that Mr. Byerly was not being cross-examined about the substance of his wife's medical records, at all, but was instead being asked factual questions concerning the time the treatment was rendered, the treatment being that which was reflected by the charges in the ER bill, which Appellant had already put into evidence. Counsel was merely inquiring as to Plaintiff's personal knowledge as to what time the services, which were reflected in the bill that he, himself, put into evidence, were performed; a fact which Mr. Byerly was certainly competent to testify as to given his testimony that he was at the hospital during the duration of his wife's treatment, having driven her to the ER. John Byerly was not being cross examined about the substance of Susan Byerly's medical records or treatment; he was being cross examined about what time he arrived at the hospital with Susan Byerly, which was highly relevant due to the open and obvious nature of railroad ties during the daylight vs early-morning darkness to which John Byerly had testified. During direct, the medical bill from the ER at Grand Strand Regional Medical Center was introduced into evidence without objection. On

cross examination, Wesley's counsel inquired of John Byerly: "Isn't it true that the medical bill that your attorney moved in and is asking the jury to have Tom pay reflects treatment which took place on October 13 between the hours of a 12:50 check-in time, and a 2:30 p.m. discharge time?" (R. p. 76, lines 8-12). By this question, counsel was simply asking the witness if the treatment that was reflected by the charges on the bill happened at a later time than that time at which the witness previously claimed. At no point did counsel indicate that the bill itself reflected any specific times, but rather that the charges included on the bill were for treatment at an issue-relevant, factually-contradictory time.

Nonetheless, Appellant failed to preserve the first issue on appeal, as presented, because Appellant neglected to make any contemporaneous objection to John Byerly's cross-examination on the basis asserted. Because Appellant's sole objection during John Byerly's cross-examination was not proper, nor sufficient, and the trial judge was not afforded the opportunity to rule upon the issue. Cross-examination concerning the bill was quite clearly the subject of the judge's ruling, the evident basis for the ruling being that Appellant had already admitted the bill into evidence. No ruling was made on the subject or, much less, upon the basis, that Appellant now asserts: that Respondent should not have been allowed to cross-examine the witness about his deceased wife's medical records that were not admitted into evidence. (See Issues on Appeal, 1). Furthermore, the basis for the sole objection made at trial was that the witness "didn't author" the document, not that they were not admitted into evidence. (R. p. 76, line 21-23).

During the trial, Appellant did not ask for, nor receive, a ruling on the objection now-raised. And, though "[p]ost-trial motions are not necessary to preserve issues that have been ruled upon at trial" and are not an opportunity to raise new issues, they are necessary to "preserve those that have been raised to the trial court but not yet ruled upon by it." Hubbard v. Rowe, 192 S.C. 12, 5

S.E.2d 187 (1939). As such, had Appellant felt that his objection was misunderstood and, therefore, never ruled upon, it was incumbent upon him clarify and/or reassert his objection. If, post-trial, Appellant remained unsatisfied with the trial judge's understanding of his objection and there remained no ruling thereon, Appellant needed to file a post-trial motion, pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC, in order to allow the trial judge an opportunity to rule. Appellant filed no Rule 59 motions and never afforded the trial judge an opportunity to obviate the error, if any, and thus failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

Even so, though Appellant's sole objection was overruled, Respondent's counsel nevertheless chose to forgo the question and moved on with cross-examination, thereby abandoning the question to which Appellant's counsel objected altogether. In essence, despite the ruling, Appellant got that for which he was asking – that counsel not ask the objected-to question. No further objection was made during the course of John Byerly's cross-examination. Yet, now, despite the voluntary abandonment of the objected-to question, Appellant is aiming the use this singular objection to raise new issues, which were not preserved by way of any contemporaneous objection, the merits of which the trial judge was not given the opportunity to rule upon.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO SUBMIT APPELLANT'S REQUEST TO CHARGE TO THE JURY.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying to charge the following:

South Carolina Courts have found that a landlord who undertakes repair of his property by use of a contractor has a non-delegable duty to see that the repair is done properly and remains vicariously liable for **injuries caused by improper repairs**. Gary v. Askew, 417 S.C. 232, 789 S.E.2d 94 (Ct. App. 2016); Simmons v. Tuomey Reg'L Med. Ctr. (Simmons 2), 341 S.C. 32, 42, 533 S.E.2d 312, 317 (2000). (*emphasis added*).

A person may delegate a *duty* to an independent contractor, but if the independent contractor breached that duty by acting negligently or improperly, the delegating person remains *liable* for that breach. It actually is the liability, not the duty, that

is not delegable. The party which owes the non-delegable duty is vicariously liable for the negligent acts of the independent contractor. Id. (Emphasis in original).

(R. p. 26; see also Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 10-11)

A. Appellant’s requested jury charge was not factually relevant to, nor supported by, the issues and evidence presented at trial and the instructions given by the trial court afforded the jury the proper test for determining the issues.

“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 625 S.E.2d 239 (Ct. App. 2006). Jury instructions should be confined to the issues made by the pleadings and supported by the evidence. Baker v. Weaver, 279 S.C. 479, 309 S.E.2d 770, 771 (Ct. App. 1983). A requested charge must be applicable to the case and not otherwise covered by the charge. Burns v. S.C. Comm’n for Blind, 323 S.C. 77, 80, 448 S.E.2d 589, 591 (Ct. App. 1994). “[F]ailure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining issues.” Id.

Here, the requested charge, as proposed, was not factually relevant to the underlying case and was not supported by the evidence presented at trial. As the trial judge pointed out, “[Defense counsel’s position is that the landlord is] not responsible [...] because it is an obvious condition. [The case] has nothing to do with the work. It has to do with what the premises looked like.” (R. p. 133, lines 23-p. 134, line 1). And, though Appellant counsel pointed out that the caselaw, from which the proposed charge was pulled, does address the landlord’s nondelegable duty to “maintain the leased property in a reasonably safe condition” (R. p. 134, lines 6-7), this is *not* the portion of the case that Appellant requested be charged. Instead, the selected caselaw and proposed jury charge concerned “improper repairs” and injury resulting from the same, a matter that was not at issue and was not supported by the evidence presented at trial. Though Appellant now argues that the jury should have been instructed on “a landlord’s nondelegable liability for the dangerous condition of the property when repairs are being made” (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 9), this

language was not included in Appellant's Request to Charge and is not able to be raised for the first time on for appeal. The portion that was selected, proposed, and ruled upon, was entirely irrelevant to the facts and, thus, properly excluded from the court's charge.

Too, the landlord's duties and all pertinent issues were already adequately covered by the court's charge. Contrary to the argument presented in Appellant's initial brief, the jury *was* directly asked to determine if Respondent, pursuant to his duties as landlord, was negligent. The jury instruction, as given, in no way insinuated that he was somehow immune from, or able to delegate, liability; in fact, this was the threshold issue for the jury. The jury was charged with the law on negligence and the duties owed by a landlord to a tenant (R. p. 142, line 20-p. 148, line 18). The verdict form directly stated, "Do you find that the defendant [Thomas Wesley] was negligent?" (R. p. 1).

Further, Respondent was not asking for a delegation of his duty (or liability). The jury was not asked to decide upon or apportion fault to any third-party. The trial judge directly instructed the jury as to the Respondent's duty pursuant to his role as owner and landlord of the property; Respondent did not deny that he had any such duty or argue that the duty was no longer his by virtue of delegation to a third-party. Nor did Respondent argue that he would not be liable to Appellant, should the jury determine that he breached such duty. The jury was asked to make a factual determination as to whether Respondent was, based upon his admitted duty, negligent. Though a jury charge concerning a landlord's non-delegable duty (or liability) may have been appropriate had the jury been asked to also make a determination as to the liability of a third-party contractor, which then may have been imputed, vicariously, upon the landlord, Appellant voluntarily dismissed all other defendants and, therefore, the jury was left to decide only upon the

negligence, or lack thereof, of Respondent. The jury was afforded the proper test for determining the issues and, based upon the evidence presented, any further jury instruction was not warranted.

Appellant also raises various arguments and cites other bits of caselaw concerning issues that were not raised at trial and are not before the court on appeal, including “an exception to the open and obvious danger rule” (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 9). No such jury charge was proposed by Appellant at the trial of this matter and this newly-raised caselaw and its applicability cannot now be addressed on appeal.

B. Vicarious liability arising from respondent’s nondelegable duty, as outlined in Appellant’s request to charge, could not be charged without an initial jury determination as to the contractor’s underlying liability.

Notwithstanding the factually irrelevancy of the proposed charge, by the time the case reached the jury, there existed no contractor-party to whom the jury could have been asked to assign liability, for which Thomas Wesley could have *then* been vicariously liable. There *must* have been an initial determination that the contractor was in fact negligent, before Respondent could *then* have been deemed to be vicariously liable; Appellant reached a settlement with Brown Rooftops, LLC before trial and dismissed it from the case. Appellant then voluntarily dismissed the remaining contractor-party, Bay Service Contracting, LLC, before the start of the trial. Having done so, Appellant was left with no contractor for whom the landlord-Respondent could be vicariously liable. The Verdict Form did not include any special interrogatory or other means by which the jury may have been asked to determine whether any non-party-contractor was negligent.

C. Vicarious liability arising from respondent’s nondelegable duty establishes an independent cause of action for breach of the duty under the Residential Landlord Tenant Act, which was not plead in Appellant’s Complaint or Amended Complaint.

“The RLTA [South Carolina Residential Landlord Tenant Act] creates a *new cause of action* not found at common law.” Pryor v. Northwest Apartments, Ltd., 321 S.C. 524, 469 S.E.2d

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